1983

R. Milton Yorgason, Salt Lake County Assessor v. County Board Of Equalization of Salt Lake County, Ex. Rel., Episcopal Management Corp : Brief of Appellant R. Milton Yorgason Salt Lake County Assessor : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Consistent with the duties of his employment, the plaintiff Salt Lake County Assessor, caused the real property and improvements located at 650 South 3rd East, Salt Lake City, County of Salt Lake to be assessed and duly taxed. Episcopal Management Corporation, the owner of the property, sought review of the assessment to the Salt Lake County Board of Equalization claiming complete exemption from taxation on the basis of the charitable exemption found in Article 13, Section 2 of the Utah Constitution. The assessment having been vacated by the County Board of Equalization, the plaintiff Assessor, sought review from the Board's decision at the state administrative level

before the State Tax Commission of Utah, and later in the tax division of the Third District Court. The claimed exemption being upheld by the District Court, the plaintiff Assessor, now seeks the review by this Court of the lower Court's decision.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Tax Division of the Third Judicial District Court, the Honorable Judge Dean Conder presiding, dismissed the plaintiff's Writ of Review with prejudice, finding the property to be used exclusively for a charitable purpose and thereby exempt from taxation pursuant to Article XIII, Section two of the Utah Constitution and UCA Section 59-2-30, as amended 1953.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff/appellant seeks review and reversal of the lower Court's Judgment and prays that the case be remanded back to the District Court, with direction that said Court make and enter its judgment and decree to state that the defendant's use of the St. Marks Tower property is not exclusively for charitable purposes and that such property be placed upon the tax rolls of Salt Lake County, and that the same be duly assessed and taxed for tax years 1980 and following.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The respondent, Episcopal Management, was organized as a nonprofit corporation in the State of Utah in April of 1978. (T.R. p34) The purpose of the Corporation is to aid the elderly and handicapped through the construction of housing for those people using all federal, state and private housing assistance which might be available. (T.R. p34) The Corporation was provided specific authority to do what was necessary in order to obtain federal monies under Section 202 of the National Housing Act of 1959. (T.R. p35)

The Board of Directors is authorized to have from five to nine members with the Bishop of the Episcopal Diocese of Utah being an unremovable Board member. (Article Seventh of the Corporate Articles as attached to the transcript of the hearing before the Utah State Tax Commission, such transcript being included in the trial record by stipulation of the parties, at T.R. p38)

The Corporate Articles cannot be amended without the consent of the Bishop of the Episcopal Diocese. (Article Thirteenth, Ibid) Upon dissolution of the Corporation, the net proceeds may be given to any organization operated for charitable, educational, religious or scientific purposes. (Article Twelfth, Ibid). After incorporation, the Management Corporation

applied and received a loan of \$3,638,000.00 from the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) secured by a forty year mortgage. (T.R. p37) With these funds in hand, the corporation acquired the subject land and built the housing project known as the St. Marks Tower consisting of 98 rental units, common areas and administrative office. (T.R. p36)

A Stipulation of Facts was entered by the parties.

(T.R. p33-39) Among the uncontested facts were the following:

- a) Both the mortgage and operating expenses of the Tower are sustained solely by rental revenue. (T.R. p38)
- b) The rental amount is established on the basis of fair market value for equivalent facilities in the community as required by HUD regulations. (T.R. p37)
- c) Of the current rental amount of \$433.00 per month per unit, the tenant pays only one quarter of his or her gross earnings towards such housing and the federal government pays the balance. (T.R. p37)
- d) To be eligible for these accommodations, the tenant cannot have annual earnings of more than \$12,000.00, or \$13,700.00 for a couple. (T. R. p37)
- e) The tenant must be at least 62 years of age or handicapped, however no more than 10% of the tenants may fall within the handicapped classification. (T.R. p37)

Certain additional facts were learned at the administrative hearing before the Utah State Tax Commission. The Tower is only bound by law to provide a decent, safe and sanitary housing facility (testimony of Operations Director for the Tower, P 10, L 22-25, State Tax Commission transcript) Its management attempts through coordination of outside services to keep the tenant independent and away from the nursing home setting. It is not, however, a substitute for nursing home care (page 8-13, 53-54, State Tax Commission transcript).

There are no tenants living in the facility without charge.

The plaintiff/appellant levied the required property tax assessment on the Tower property believing the property's use not to be a truly charitable one as defined by Utah Constitution and Statute. (T.R. p47) The lower Court held against the Salt Lake County Assessor thereby concluding that the property is used exclusively for charitable purposes and therefore exempt from taxation. From this ruling, plaintiff appealed.

POINT I

SERVING A SOCIAL NEED BY PROVIDING LOW-INCOME HOUSING IS APART FROM AND DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CHARITABLE PURPOSE AS DEFINED BY UTAH LAW.

The defendant/respondent has focused on national studies in an attempt to show Salt Lake County has a need for low-income housing. However, even assuming this County has a deficiency in low-cost housing for its elderly, an exclusive charitable use is not simply a finding that a social need is being served.

In Beerman Foundation Inc., v Board of Tax Appeals 87 N.E. 2d 474, 475 (Ohio 1949), a nonprofit foundation constructed apartments for occupancy by war veterans who had impaired earning power. The monthly rental was \$35.00, however, the fair value of comparable units was \$75.00. The Court found this amounted to a rent subsidy. The Court quoted the Appeals Board as saying:

..None are housed free of cost. If applicant's space were not available these eight tenants would presumably have to find less desirable quarters within their means. Is applicant's philanthropy in foregoing a profit the criterion?..

The Court later answers this question by stating:

The use of the property in the instant case is primarily for furnishing low rent housing and not exclusively for charitable purposes.

The resulting tax exemption in finding an exclusively charitable purpose is the reason for differentiating a social from a charitable purpose. Only by a taxpayer taking upon its shoulders what the taxing entity presently carries or is ob-

ligated to assume, will the taxpayer be allowed to escape its share of taxes.

In United Presbyterian Association v Board of County Commissioners 448 P.2d 967, 975 (Colorado 1975), the Court dealt with the exemption status of a senior citizen's home. Finding against the charitable exemption the Court said,

The justification for charitable tax exemption, especially insofar as the rights of the body politic are involved, is that if the charitable work were not being done by a private party, it would have to be undertaken at public expense.

..The furnishing of homes to older adults is not in itself a charitable purpose.

Here the defendant provides no real services which the County would otherwise have to provide. No justification therefore exists for granting the exemption.

The defendant has emphasized that it obtained the needed funding for the Tower from federal HUD monies and that the National Housing Act, which authorizes such funds, clearly sets forth the need for low-income housing. Yet the federal statutory provisions do not hinge any funding on the property being tax exempt from local taxation. Again, the social need and the tax exemption are based on different criteria. See 12 U.S.C.A. Section 1701 et seq.

In Paraclete Manor of Kansas City v State Tax Commission 447 S.W.2d 311, 312-315 (Missouri 1969), the plaintiff used the same federal funding as defendant in the present case. As in the instant case, the rents were geared to pay off the mortgage and ongoing expenses. Unlike the Tower, which gets what the market will allow, the rent was found to be \$25.00-\$30.00 less than comparable units in the community. Although the tenants were charged equally for the same kind of unit, many received other welfare or, as in the present case, supplements from the federal government. The Court ruled against the charitable exemption finding:

...that it was thus intended to be completely self-supporting and self-liquidating without any intention that gifts or charity were to be involved; [and] that it is thus actually competitive with landlords offering other residential property for rent on which taxes must be paid,...

The Paraclete Manor Court, the United Presbyterian Association case, and the earlier noted Beerman opinion all keep in tact those reasons for allowing a tax exemption. That being the act of giving which results in a displacement of government services and subsequent savings of public monies. The defendant here gives no gifts as part of its day-to-day operations and takes over no current County services. No reason therefore exists under existing tests for charitable tax exemptions to grant the property said exemption.

The defendant persuaded the lower Court that but for its housing facility, some of its tenants might be found in Utah nursing homes with Medicaid incurring the bill. (T.R. p60) Even if this were found to be more than mere speculation, it would not be pertinent in that Salt Lake County as an entity does not pay Medicaid. This Court has required the above mentioned quid pro quo relationship to exist in Salt Lake Lodge No. 85, B.P.O.E. v Groesbeck 40 Utah 1, 120P 192, 194 (1911). The present facts are void of any services being supplied by the defendant for which the plaintiff County would otherwise be obligated to pay. Since this case deals only with County property taxation, no exemption based on charity can be maintained because of the lack of displacement of local government responsibilities.

The plaintiff is not attempting to demean the useful service the defendant is supplying. As brought out in the hearing at the State Tax Commission, the defendant is making the lives of its tenants much more pleasant. However, the facts supporting a finding of charity just do not exist in this case.

POINT II

THE ACT OF MAKING A GIFT IS ESSENTIAL TO AN EXCLUSIVELY CHARITABLE PURPOSE AND DEFENDANT DOES NOT CONTRIBUTE ANYTHING TO ITS TENANTS.

Clearly, a finding of charity includes a finding of giving. In Salt Lake County v Tax Commission et al., 596 P2d 641, 643 (Utah 1979), the Court wrote,

Charity is the contribution or dedication of something of value to the poor or at least to the common good... By exempting property used for charitable purposes, the constitutional convention sought to encourage individual or group sacrifice for the welfare of the community. An essential element of charity is giving. (emphasis added)

In the present facts, the defendant borrowed federal funds to build the Tower. The mortgage and day-to-day expenses are paid either by the tenant or the same federal funds as used to build the project. The Tower is managed by a private corporation which has the right to make a profit and claims no exemption. The would-be taxpayer as owner of the facility has contributed nothing of relative significance in alleviating the needs of our elderly, yet now claims a tax exemption on the basis of its charity.

The lower Court was convinced by the defendant that the source of the charitable gift is irrelevant. Thus by the federal government providing rent subsidies to keep the building running, the owner of the property was somehow masked with the charitable intent. It seems obvious that before a landowner deserves exemption status due to its charity, the landowner must be the source of the gift and the property must be used exclusively for the charitable purpose.

The element of personal sacrifice has long been a standing requirement to a finding of charity. In Friendsview Manor v State Tax Commission 420 P.2d 77, 80-81 (Oregon 1966), the Court had a similar set of facts before it. A retirement home was claiming exemption from real property taxation as a charitable institution. The property did not receive federal funds, but required a substantial founder's fee, monthly rental and received voluntary community gift support. The Court found the petitioner in a few instances did pay all or part of the founder's fee and monthly charges for persons unable to pay. The petitioner alleged that its charitable purpose is evidenced in its care of the elderly whether rich or poor. The Court held against the exemption. It found it essential that the property be donated by others and not purchased by the users of the property before a charitable exemption would be granted. Quoting an earlier case, the Court wrote,

. . . that in order for the activities of a taxpayer to entitle him to exemption as "social welfare" work they must be calculated to benefit some other group than the one which supplies the money and directs its disposition... (I)n the benefaction some mode of altruism must clearly shine forth. (emphasis added)

The present facts hold not the tenant paying the large percentage of needed rental, but the federal government. Realistically the taxpayers of this Nation are the ones supplying the needed support. Public funds have never been considered

a charitable gift. The defendant, one who would be obligated to pay the property tax, has given nothing.

It should be remembered that the County as an independent taxing unit with its independent budget responsibilities is the one which will lose the tax revenue otherwise generated by defendant and others engaged in similar tasks. The taxpayers of this Nation are the only group having given anything in this case, and they have done so void of any altruistic intent. The defendant being exempt from federal income taxation is the only entity which has contributed nothing, but seeks an exemption based on its benevolence. This Court, along with other state courts, looks to the defendant taxpayer's charitable intent, the use of the property and the resulting displacement of government services. This defendant has made no significant gift of itself and assumes no County government responsibilities. The property is not used exclusively for charitable purposes.

The lower Court's ruling that the source of the necessary funding was irrelevant in determining the exclusive charitable character of the would-be taxpayer, is contrary to the mandate of this Court and others which require a charitable or benevolent intent be found to exist in the taxpayer and, an exclusively charitable use of the property. In Courtney v Douglas v OFA Senior Citizen's Inc., 111 NW 2d 719, 725 (Nebraska 1961), the Nebraska Court was faced with similar facts

as this Court is presently. The building was used for low-income rental to the elderly on a nonprofit basis. Social programs were provided and the rental was based upon costs of upkeep and amortization of the mortgage. The residents were accepted without determining whether they could pay the rental or not and many were subsidized by receiving work and assistance in order that they could meet the rent. The tenants were required to pay the rental amount although inability to pay did not result in eviction. The rental, however, was never abated and outside sources were sought to pay the owed amounts. No specific rights were granted the tenants to remain in the facility without payment of the rental from some source. Again the exemption was rejected. The Court said,

In this it is not difficult to perceive that the operations of the defendant included worthy charitable aspects but it may not well be said that this ownership and use was exclusively charitable...

The elements the Nebraska Court found to be controlling are clearly present here. The defendant bases its rental on the costs of maintaining the building and amortizing the mortgage. The tenants have no express rights which would prevent their eviction if the monthly rental could not be paid. If they were unable to pay their share of the rent, they could not reside at the facility. The Nebraska Court specifically

finds that rental payments by third parties is not sufficient to grant the landowner taxpayer charitable status. The promotion of the charitable intent being a significant element in the exemption status.

The defendant is improving the living conditions of some of the area elderly and plaintiff would not belittle that effort. But as shown above, the defendant as a taxpaying entity does not fulfill the elements of an exclusively charitable institution and the taxpayers of Salt Lake County should not shoulder the defendant's property tax responsibility.

POINT III

THE PARENT ENTITY OF THE DEFENDANT MAY WELL BENEFIT BY THE TOWER PROPERTY AND SUCH BENEFIT PREVENTS AN EXEMPTION BASED ON AN EXCLUSIVE CHARITABLE PURPOSE.

As noted in the Statement of Facts, the Bishop of the Episcopal Diocese of Utah is a permanent member of the defendant's Board of Directors. The Articles cannot be amended without his vote being amongst the majority. (Article Seven and Thirteen of the defendant's Articles of Incorporation) Upon dissolution of the Corporation, the net proceeds may go to any religious or charitable institution which obviously includes the Episcopal Church. (Article Twelve, Ibid)

Effectively, the Episcopal Church has built a 98 unit residential complex at no cost to itself. The complex is run at no cost to it and if it is later sold, the entire sales price will be a nontaxable gain. The Diocese has aided the area aged and can make a fantastic sum of money at the same time. Plaintiff does not attempt to place this possibility in an unfavorable light. However, the possibility of the benefit enuring to the Episcopal Church is real. Both social and religious needs can be benefitted. However, this outlook does prevent a tax exemption on the basis of an exclusive charitable purpose.

In Parker et al v Quinn 23 Utah 332, 64 P. 961, 962 (Utah 1901), the plaintiff as trustee held legal title to property for the benefit of the Fifteenth Ward Relief Society. The taxable property was a two-story building, the upper level used by the Relief Society for its exclusive charitable and religious work. The lower level was rented out and the proceeds contributed toward the furtherance of the charitable work. This Court found that property held by the Society as a source of income was not used for an exclusively charitable purpose, even though the income was put toward the charitable function.

The same result occurred in the Idaho case of Malad Second Ward of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints v State Tax Commission 269 P.2d 1077, 1079 (1954). There, the

land of the plaintiff was used to raise wheat which was ultimately used in the Church's Welfare program. The Court held no charitable exemption existed under the facts. It said,

Conceding the claimant to be organized as a charitable institution or society, it is not entitled to exemption from taxation on property which it owns and from which it derives a revenue, even if the funds or produce so derived are devoted exclusively to charitable purposes.

The defendant in the present case has yet to contribute the gain from the Tower to its parent Diocese. However, the established doctrine of strict construction has always pertained to tax exemptions. As the Parker Court stated, in cases on this subject, all doubts must be resolved against exemption. Therefore, the very real possibility of the Diocese retaining the large gain created by the Tower project, eliminates the Tower from obtaining exemption status based on an exclusive charitable purpose.

POINT IV

THIS COURT HAS PREVIOUSLY HELD THAT HOUSING FACILITIES SUCH AS DEFENDANT'S DO NOT CONSTITUTE A USE FOR AN EXCLUSIVELY CHARITABLE PURPOSE.

The defendants in the lower Court attempted to differentiate itself from the Friendship Manor property. The elements

this Court focused on in Friendship Manor Corporation v Tax Commission 26 Utah 2d 227, 487 P.2d 1272, 1275-1280 (1971), in denying the tax exemption are equally present in this case.

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