1983

R. Milton Yorgason, Salt Lake County Assessor v. County Board Of Equalization of Salt Lake County, Ex. Rel., Episcopal Management Corp : Brief of Appellant R. Milton Yorgason Salt Lake County Assessor : Brief of Respondent Episcopal Management Corp

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

ARGUMENT

I. RESPONDENT'S USE OF THE PROPERTY MEETS THE "CHARITABLE PURPOSE" TEST ESTABLISHED BY THIS COURT IN FRIENDSHIP MANOR.

Appellant relies upon Friendship Manor Corp. v. Tax Commission, 487 P.2d 1272 (Utah 1971) to justify taxation of St.

Mark's Tower. Respondent submits that such reliance is totally misplaced, and that the factors which were found to be significant in finding non-exemption in Friendship Manor are the very ones which are not present in the case of St. Mark's Tower.

Friendship Manor involved an apartment building of 228 units. Tenants in the Manor had to meet certain requirements. Eighty percent of them had to be over 62 years old. They must be ambulatory. They must be financially able to pay the rent established and the Manor did not accept tenants if they were not financially able to maintain or pay the expenses and maintain the standard of living which was required. Rents were established so that the total amount collected met all expenses plus amortization of interest and principal on the mortgage. Certain commercial businesses were also allowed to operate in the building. The Utah Supreme Court ruled that under these facts, the Manor should not be exempt from taxation:

Where the senior citizen is paying for all of the services he receives and the rental of the apartments is not determined by need, but is determined by what is required to retire the principal and interest of the mortgage, together with all upkeep and operation expenses, no charitable purpose is involved. The state does not have the obligation to provide living accommodations to persons well able and willing to pay for their needs.

487 P.2d at 1280.

In so holding, this Court established a test for determining what is a charitable use. If rental payments are insufficient to cover the cost of the complex, and are adjusted to reflect each tenant's ability to pay, then a charitable exemption is available; otherwise, it is not. In the case of St. Mark's Tower,

the resident does not pay the full cost of all the services he receives and the rental paid by each resident is determined by need (i.e. 25% of his total income).

Respondent does not quarrel with the result in Friendship Manor. It establishes sound public policy. Indeed, the very differences between the operation of St. Mark's Tower and Friendship Manor are the very differences this Court has looked to in determining what is a charitable use under the "Friendship Manor test".

Appellant argues that St. Mark's Tower fails the Friendship Manor test, since the "rental actually due" is not based on each tenant's ability to pay. This contention misstates the facts of this case, as the tenants are not required, expected or encouraged to pay anything above 25% of their income for rental. Since Friendship Manor looks solely to whether the tenant is paying a rental based on his ability to pay, the Friendship Manor test is satisfied here.

Appellant also relies on Beerman Foundation, Inc. v. Board of Tax Appeals, 87 N.E. 2d 474 (Ohio 1949), which states that if the tenants of a housing complex are required to pay any rental, the complex's property is not used for charitable purposes. Beerman, however, reflects the minority view; the prevailing view, which has become almost universally accepted in more recent cases, is that the charitable use is not destroyed if the tenants do pay some rent, especially if the amount is adjusted to reflect their ability to pay and is below the market rate -- as is the case here. See, e.g. Fredericka Home v. San Diego County, 221 P.2d 68 (Cal. 1950); 71

Am.Jur.2d State and Local Taxation, § 373 (1973). Utah adopted the majority view in Friendship Manor, which held that a charitable exemption can be available even if tenants are required to pay rent, so long as the rent charged each tenant is adjusted to reflect his or her ability to pay. Friendship Manor, 487 P.2d at 1280. See also Salt Lake County v. Tax Commission ex rel. Laborers Local No. 205, 658 P.2d 1192, 1198-9 (Utah 1983) (Oaks, Chief Justice, concurring).

II. HOUSING FOR ELDERLY AND HANDICAPPED PEOPLE CAN BE A CHARITABLE PURPOSE IF THE FRIENDSHIP MANOR TEST IS SATISFIED.

Appellant also argues that the housing of senior citizens and the handicapped can never constitute a charitable use of property. Among the cases cited by appellant for this proposition is United Presbyterian Association v. Board of County Commissioners, 448 P.2d 967 (Colo. 1975), where the court stated that "the furnishing of homes to older adults is not in itself a charitable purpose." Id. at 975. But the court did not hold that such a use could never be charitable; rather, it held that under the facts of that particular case, there was no charitable use. The court found that there was "material reciprocity between alleged recipients and their alleged donors." Id. at 976. In other words, there was a market-type relationship between the landlord and tenants in which the tenants paid market rents which were not adjusted to reflect the tenant's ability to pay.

The United Presbyterian approach is very similar to that of Friendship Manor. This is not surprising, as Friendship Manor relied heavily on United Presbyterian. Thus, Friendship Manor

establishes that under Utah law a housing complex for elderly and handicapped people is a charitable use if the Friendship Manor test is satisfied, notwithstanding any contrary authority from other states, including two other cases cited by Appellant, Paraclete Manor of Kansas City v. State Tax Commission, 447 S.W.2d 311 (Mo. 1969), and Beerman Foundation Inc. v. Board of Tax Appeals, 87 N.E.2d 474 (Ohio 1949).

III. POSSIBLE FUTURE SALE OF PROPERTY DOES NOT AFFECT ITS EXEMPTION.

Appellant contends that since the Episcopal Diocese of Utah -- the parent of respondent -- may be able to sell the St. Mark's Tower property at some future date for a substantial consideration, the Diocese could benefit from the property, which is therefore not being used exclusively for charitable purposes and hence is ineligible for a charitable exemption. In support of this argument, Appellant cites several cases, all of which are readily distinguishable in that they involve the receipt by a non-profit corporation of income resulting from continuing activities carried out on the property, and not revenues derived by the corporation from the sale of the property.

In Parker v. Quinn, 64 P. 961 (Utah 1901), part of the property in question was rented out by the nonprofit corporate owner, which applied the rental payments to charitable endeavors; this Court held that the charitable exemption was unavailable as to that part of the property, since it was not being used exclusively for charitable purposes. Id. at 962. Similarly, in Malad Second Ward of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints v. State Tax Commission, 269 P.2d 1077 (Idaho 1954), the court held that land

owned by a nonprofit corporation on which wheat was raised was not being used exclusively for charitable purposes, even though the wheat was distributed to the needy as part of a charitable program; the court equated the harvesting of the wheat with the receipt of income from the property. Id. at 1079.

Appellant has cited no cases in which the possible future sale of property used for charitable purposes, the proceeds of which go to the nonprofit corporate seller, was held to disqualify the property from a charitable deduction. To the best of Respondent's knowledge, there are no such cases. This is not surprising, for two reasons. First, such a doctrine would effectively eliminate the charitable exemption from ad valorem property taxation. So long as the property has any value, a future sale would always be possible and the resulting gain to the potential seller would cause the property to lose its exemption. In the unlikely event that the property is absolutely worthless, it would not need the exemption in order to escape ad valorem taxation, which by definition is levied in proportion to the property's value, Callaway v. City of Overland Park, 508 P.2d 902, 907 (Kansas 1973). Second -- conceding for the moment that respondent's sale of property could at some time affect the property exemption -- Appellant's argument runs afoul of the rule that a mere prospective use of the property does not affect its eligibility for a charitable exemption. This rule is explicitly applied to deny an exemption to property designated by its owners for a charitable use which has not materialized as of the date of the assessment, see, e.g., Society of St. Vincent DePaul, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 537 P.2d 69 (Oregon 1975), but it is also

tacitly recognized to apply to the whole field of charitable property tax exemptions by all courts, who confine their examination of the property's uses to its past or present uses, not to hypothetical future uses. See. e.g., Friendship Manor, supra; Loyal Order of Moose No. 259 v. County Board of Equalization of Salt Lake County, 657 P.2d 257 (Utah 1982). If Appellant believes that a future sale of the property should result in a tax assessment, he should raise this issue at the time of the sale, not at the present time.

IV. ST. MARK'S TOWER COMPLIES WITH THE RELEVANT STATUTORY GUIDELINES.

Utah Code Annotated § 59-2-30 (1974) provides a statutory clarification of the constitutional exemption:

Property Used for Religious Worship or Charitable Purposes - Requirements for Exemption. This section is intended to clarify the scope of exemptions for property used exclusively for either religious worship or charitable purposes provided for in section 2 of Article XIII of the Constitution of the state of Utah. This section is not intended to expand or limit the scope of such exemptions. Any property whose use is dedicated to religious worship or charitable purposes including property which is incidental to and reasonably necessary for the accomplishment of such religious worship or charitable purposes, intended to benefit an indefinite number of persons is exempt from taxation if all of the following requirements are met:

- (1) The user is not organized to produce a profit from the use of the property.
- (2) No part of any net earnings, from the use of the property, inures to the benefit of any private shareholder or individual, but any net earnings shall be used directly or indirectly, for the charitable or religious purposes of the organization.
- (3) The property is not used or operated by the organization or other person so as to benefit any officer, trustee, director, shareholder, lessor, member, employee, contributor, or any other person through the distribution of profits, payment of excessive charges or compensations.

(4) Upon the liquidation, dissolution, or abandonment of the user no part of any proceeds derived from such use will inure to the benefit of any private person.

The Episcopal Management Corporation in its ownership and operation of St. Mark's Tower complies fully with all of the requirements of this statute. Thus:

(1) Episcopal Management Corporation is not organized to produce a profit from the use of the property.

(2) No part of any net earnings from the use of St. Mark's Tower inures to the benefit of any private shareholder, individual, but any net earnings are used directly or indirectly for the charitable purposes of the Episcopal Management Corporation.

(3) St. Mark's Tower is not used or operated by Episcopal Management Corporation or any other person so as to benefit any officer, trustee, director, shareholder, lessor, member, employee, contributor, or any other person through the distribution of profits, payment of excessive charges of compensations.

(4) Upon the liquidation, dissolution, or abandonment of Episcopal Management Corporation, no part of any proceeds derived from such use will inure to the benefit of any private person.

V. AN EXEMPTION SHOULD NOT BE DENIED BECAUSE THE CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES ARE GOVERNMENT SUPPORTED.

Appellant further contends that Respondent's use of the property is not "charitable" under Article XIII, § 2 of the Utah Constitution because Respondent has not contributed anything of

value to the complex, as it is being paid for by funds from the Federal Government and from the tenants of the project. This "source of funds" argument is flawed for two reasons. First, considerations of the source of funding for charitable projects are not relevant in determining whether an exemption exists. Second, the record in this case shows that Respondent has made substantial contributions to the complex.

A. Source of Funds Irrelevant.

Even if the facts of this case showed that St. Mark's Tower is entirely funded by its tenants and by the Federal Government, the complex would still be entitled to a charitable exemption. The only seemingly contrary Utah authority came in Salt Lake County v. Tax Commission ex rel. Laborers Local No. 295, 658 P.2d 1192 (Utah 1983), a case not even cited by Appellant. In that case, this Court, without any discussion of the issue, stated that an apprenticeship program conducted by a group of labor unions "cannot be classified as charitable because it is entirely funded through a combination of federal grants and tuition paid by the apprentices themselves, rather than through the union or its members." Id. at 1194.

Neither this Court nor the petitioners in that case -- who had urged the court to accept this principle -- provided any citations for this statement, and the respondent did not even deal with the issue in its brief. Moreover, the statement is clearly dictum, as the court went on to hold that an exemption was inapplicable because the activities conducted on the property --

including the apprenticeship program -- were "rendered primarily on behalf of union members and their families." Id. The underlying basis of this Court's decision was that the primary reason for the union's existence was to benefit its own members, a limited, self-defined group. Episcopal Management's sole purpose is to benefit the elderly, a category into which all people will fall if they live long enough.

The failure of the part of Laborers Local to fully discuss the "source of funds" issue is made more remarkable by the fact that its statement goes against the established doctrine in Utah that the use of the property is exclusively determinative. As this Court said in Friendship Manor:

It is the use to which it puts its real property which is the determination of whether or not such property is exempt.

487 P.2d at 1276 (emphasis supplied). In subsequent exemption cases, this Court has looked solely to the use of the property and not to the source of funds. See, e.g., Eyring Research Institute v. Tax Commission, 598 P.2d 1348 (Utah 1979); Baker v. One Piece of Improved Real Property, 570 P.2d 1028 (Utah 1977).

The idea that the existence of a gift can be negated by the presence of government funds was rejected by Chief Justice Oaks in his concurring opinion in Laborers Local:

A gift or sacrifice for the welfare of the community can be identified . . . from a substantial imbalance in the exchanges between the charitable organization and recipient (i.e. the absence of reciprocity) . . .

658 P.2d at 1198. The "absence of reciprocity" is the Friendship Manor use test. Thus, as Chief Justice Oaks recognized, so long as

there is a charitable use, a gift element is present, regardless of the source of funds.

The lower court in this case also refused to look beyond the use to the source of funds in holding for an exemption:

. . . the tenants who are in need of charitable assistance are receiving it in this housing. To look to the source of funds to try to determine whether or not the activity is "charitable" would create untold mischief. What would you do about the Red Cross, Salvation Army, etc.?

Yorgason v. County Board of Equalization, Civil No. C 82-4002 at p. 2 (Third Judicial District, December 14, 1982).

The weight of authority from other states which have expressly and fully considered the "source of funds" argument goes against Appellant's contention. In Franciscan Tertiary Province v. State Tax Commission, 566 S.W.2d 213 (Mo. 1978), the court overruled several earlier cases to hold that a housing project used for charitable purposes does not lose its charitable exemption if the funds for the project come solely from the government. Id. at 226. While the housing project in Franciscan was supported by a combination of federal funds and contributions from the nonprofit corporate owner, the court expressly reaffirmed its earlier holding in Bader Realty & Investment Co. v. St. Louis Housing Authority, 217 S.W.2d 489 (Mo. 1949), which permitted a tax exemption for a housing project whose funds came solely from government sources. Franciscan, 566 S.W.2d at 226.

Like the lower court in this case, the Franciscan court rejected the "source of funds" argument because it realized that the argument could be applied to any charity, such as the Red Cross or United Way, that obtains its funding from outside sources.

Franciscan also refused to create a special "source of funds" theory for government grants, because a government grant has the same effect as a contribution from a private source:

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